

Translation Management System

Subscription and Corporate Service Level Agreement

for
XTM Public Cloud
and
XTM Private Cloud

Contents

1.	Preamble	2
2.	Definitions	3
3.	30-day free trial	4
4.	Services for Subcontractors	4
5.	Purchased Services	4
6.	Use of the Services	5
7.	Fees and Payment for Purchased Services	6
8.	Proprietary rights	7
9.	Confidentiality	8
10.	Warranties and Disclaimers	9
11.	Indemnification	9
12.	Limitation of liability	10
13.	Term and termination	10
14.	Governing law	11
15.	General provisions	11

1. Preamble

We are XTM International Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated and existing under the laws of England and Wales, with company number [4217452], whose registered office address is at 7/8 Eghams Court, Boston Drive, Bourne End, Bucks, SL8 5YS, UK ("XTM International/We/Us/Our").

XTM International is a software development company that specialises in translation software and technology.

This Subscription and Corporate Service Levels Agreement ("Agreement") governs Your acquisition and use of Our Services which includes one or more of the following:

- Your 30-day free trial of the Services; or
- Your use of the Services as a Subcontractor to a paid subscriber to the Services; or
- If you purchase Our Services, Your purchase and on-going use of those Services.

By accepting this Agreement, either by clicking a box indicating Your acceptance, signing an order form that references this Agreement, or using the Services You agree to the terms of this

Agreement. If You are entering into this Agreement on behalf of a company or other legal entity, You represent that You have the authority to bind such entity to these terms and conditions, in which case the terms "You" or "Your" shall refer to such entity. If You do not have such authority, or if You do not agree with these terms and conditions, You must not accept this Agreement and may not use the Services.

You may not access the Services if You are Our direct competitor, except with Our prior written consent. In addition, You may not access the Services for purposes of monitoring their availability, performance or functionality, or for any other benchmarking or competitive purposes.

This Agreement was last updated on 9th of July 2019. It is effective between You and Us as of the date of You accepting this Agreement. This Agreement is subject to revision. If We make any substantial changes, We will notify You in accordance with Section 15.2

2. Definitions

- **2.1.** "Malicious Code" means viruses, worms, time bombs, Trojan horses and other harmful or malicious code, files, scripts, agents or programs.
- **2.2.** "Order Form" means the ordering documents for purchases hereunder, including addenda thereto, that are entered into between You and Us from time to time. Order Forms shall be deemed incorporated herein by reference.
- 2.3. "Personal Data" means any information relating to (i) an identified or identifiable natural person and, (ii) an identified or identifiable legal entity which may be submitted by You to the Services or is otherwise processed by Us in relation to the Services.
- **2.4.** "Purchased Services" means Services that You purchase under an Order Form, as distinguished from those provided pursuant to a 30-day free trial.
- **2.5.** "Service" means the single or multi-tenant online, Web-based application provided by Us via the internet as described in the User Manual.
- **2.6.** "Service Levels" means the service levels set out in Annexure 1.
- **2.7.** "Subcontractor" means an authorised entity that uses the Services either
 - a. through a licence purchased by You on the Subcontractor's behalf; or
 - b. directly via its own Purchased Services.
- **2.8. "Support"** means the maintenance and technical support provided by Company with respect to the Service, as described in Annexure 1.
- **2.9.** "Subscription Term" means the period of time during which Users are permitted to use the Services hereunder, as specified in the applicable Order Form and including all renewals or extensions thereof.
- **2.10.** "Third-Party Applications" means online, Web-based applications and offline software products that are provided by third parties, interoperate with the Services, and are identified as third-party applications.
- **2.11.** "User Manual" means the XTM User Manual to be found at the following link [https://xtm.cloud/docs/xtm-manual.pdf]. You acknowledge that You have had the opportunity to review the User Manual
- **2.12.** "Users" means individuals who are authorized by You to use the Services, for whom subscriptions to a Service have been purchased, and who have been supplied user identifications and passwords by You (or by Us at Your request). Users may include but are

- not limited to Your employees, consultants, contractors and agents; or third parties with which You transact business.
- **2.13.** "You" or "Your" means the company or other legal entity for which You are accepting this Agreement.
- **2.14.** "Your Data" means all electronic data or information, which may include personal data, submitted by You to the Services including, Users' names and emails, source files, target files, translation memories, terminology information and customers.
- **2.15. Third Party Services.** Means services offered by third parties that may be accessed by you from within the Services used to assist with translation.

3. 30-day free trial

- **3.1.** If the Services have been made available to You on a trial basis, it will be free of charge until the earlier of (a) the thirtieth day after Your acceptance of this Agreement or (b) the start date of any Purchased Services ordered by You. Additional trial terms and conditions may appear on the trial registration web page. Any such additional terms and conditions are incorporated into this Agreement by reference and are legally binding.
- 3.2. Any data You enter into the Services, and any customizations made to the Services by or for You, during your 30-day free trial will be permanently lost unless You purchase a subscription to the same Services as those covered by the trial, or export such data, before the end of the 30-day trial period.
- **3.3.** Notwithstanding section 10 (Warranties and Disclaimers), during the 30-day free trial the Services are provided "as-is" without any warranty.
- **3.4.** Please review the User Manual during the trial period so that You become familiar with the features and functions of the Services before You make Your purchase.

4. Services for Subcontractors

- **4.1.** The Services may be made available to You, in order for You to perform Subcontractor tasks, on the basis of Your acceptance of this Agreement. Any such additional terms and conditions are incorporated into this Agreement by reference and are legally binding.
- **4.2.** While using the Services as a Subcontractor Your access will be limited to working on tasks assigned to You by the Principal Contractor (being the paid subscriber) for a project. Your rights to use the Services is dependent and subject to the Principal Contractor and its Subscription Period. You can obtain full access to the Services by purchasing the Services.
- **4.3.** While accessing the Services as a Subcontractor You will either:
- **4.3.1.** utilise one or more of the Principal Contractor's paid concurrent licences and be limited to working on tasks assigned to You by the Principal Contractor; or
- **4.3.2.** purchase the Services directly and thus be afforded unrestricted usage of the Services.

5. Purchased Services

5.1. Provision of Purchased Services. We shall make the Purchased Services available to You pursuant to this Agreement and the relevant Order Forms during a Subscription Term. You

- agree that Your purchases hereunder are neither contingent on the delivery of any future functionality or features nor dependent on any oral or written public comments made by Us regarding future functionality or features, unless a description of such functionality or features are attached to this agreement and signed by both parties.
- 5.2. User Subscriptions. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Order Form, (i) Services are purchased as User subscriptions and may be accessed by no more than the specified number of Users. (ii) At any point during the subscription period a new revised subscription of a different type, with a different number of users or with a different expiry date can be purchased at the standard published price. An invoice will be raised for the new subscription and credit note will be issued for the unused part of the existing subscription, but no refunds are given. (iii) Temporary additional User subscriptions may be added and used during the Subscription Term. The price for temporary users is published in the system.

6. Use of the Services

- **6.1. Our Responsibilities.** We shall: (i) perform the Services in a timely, reliable and professional manner, in conformity with good industry practices (ii) provide You with Support and Service Levels for the Services as described in the Service Level Agreement in Annexure 1 and (iii) provide the Services only in accordance with applicable laws and government regulations.
- 6.2. Your Responsibilities. You shall (i) be responsible for Your and/or the Users' compliance with this Agreement, (ii) be solely responsible for the accuracy, quality, integrity and legality of Your Data and of the means by which You acquired Your Data, (iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized access to or use of the Services, and notify Us promptly of any such unauthorized access or use, (iv) co-operate with Us in all matters relating to the Services; (v) provide Us, our employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors, with access to the Your premises, networks, systems and other facilities as reasonably required for Us to provide the Services, (vi) provide Us with such information and materials as We may reasonably require to supply the Services, and ensure that such information is accurate in all material respects; and (vii) use the Services only in accordance with Your own internal business purposes, the User Manual and applicable laws and government regulations. You shall not (a) make the Services available to anyone other than Users, (b) sell, resell, rent or lease the Services, (c) use the Services to store or transmit infringing, libellous, or otherwise unlawful or tortious material, or to store or transmit material in violation of third-party privacy rights, (d) use the Services to store or transmit Malicious Code, (e) interfere with or disrupt the integrity or performance of the Services or third-party data contained therein, or (f) attempt to gain unauthorized access to the Services or their related systems or networks.
- **6.3. Usage Limitations.** Services may be subject to other limitations, such as, for example, limits on the number of words that can be translated, on the number of calls You are permitted to make against Our application programming interface, and, for Services that enable You to provide public websites, on the number of page views by visitors to those websites. Any such limitations are specified in the User Manual. The Services provide real-time information to enable You to monitor Your compliance with such limitations.

- 6.4. Fair Use. You acknowledge that the Services depend on finite resources shared amongst many customers. You agree not to use the Services excessively or unreasonably. Our Service Plans (found either at https://xtm.cloud/pricing/ or as set out in Your Proposal) may or may not specify usage limitations as outlined in 6.3. The omission of any such limit does not imply a literally unlimited consumption allowance, even if the term "unlimited" is used by Us or others in describing any aspect of the Service Plans. Excessive consumption of the Services may be identified with reference to significant variations from the average consumption by comparable customers. If You are found to be consuming the Services excessively, We will contact You and work with you to remedy the situation. We may make recommendations regarding, for example, system design and configuration, user training, your internal support procedures. However, if heavy usage is expected to continue, we reserve the right to upgrade You to a more suitable Service Plan. You agree to make good faith efforts to remedy excessive consumption. If You have any doubt regarding your usage, please do not hesitate to contact Us.
- **6.5. Authorisations.** You are responsible for securing all licences, authorisations and consents required for You and your personnel to use the Services.

7. Fees and Payment for Purchased Services

- 7.1. User Fees. You shall pay all fees as specified in the Order Forms. Except as otherwise specified herein or in an Order Form, (i) fees are quoted and payable in GB Pounds, US dollars or Euros (ii) fees are based on Services purchased and not actual usage, (iii) payment obligations are non-cancellable and fees paid are non-refundable, and (iv) the value of subscriptions purchased cannot be decreased. User subscription fees are based on monthly periods that begin on the subscription start date and each monthly anniversary thereof. Any additional services required by You that fall outside of the scope of the Services will be charged at the prevailing XTM day rate and will be confirmed with You prior to it being incurred.
- 7.2. Invoicing and Payment. You will provide Us with valid and updated credit card information, or with a valid purchase order or alternative document reasonably acceptable to Us. If You provide credit card information to Us, You authorize Us to charge such credit for all Services listed in the Order Form for the initial Subscription Term and any renewal Subscription Term(s) as set forth in Section 13.2 (Term of Purchased User Subscriptions). Such charges shall be made in advance, either annually or in accordance with any different billing frequency stated in the applicable Order Form. If the Order Form specifies that payment will be by a method other than a credit card, We will invoice You in advance and otherwise in accordance with the relevant Order Form. Unless otherwise stated in the Order Form, invoiced charges are due net 30 days from the invoice date. You are responsible for maintaining complete and accurate billing and contact information in the Services.
- **7.3. Overdue Charges.** If any charges are not received from You by the due date, then at Our discretion, (a) such charges may accrue late interest at the rate of 1.5% of the outstanding balance per month, or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is lower, from the date such payment was due until the date paid, and/or (b) We may condition future subscription renewals and Order Forms on payment terms shorter than those specified in Section 7.2 (Invoicing and Payment).

- **7.4. Suspension of Service and Acceleration.** If any amount owing by You under this or any other agreement for Our services is 30 or more days overdue (or 10 or more days overdue in the case of amounts You have authorized Us to charge to Your credit card), We may, without limiting Our other rights and remedies, accelerate Your unpaid fee obligations under such agreements so that all such obligations become immediately due and payable, and suspend Our services to You until such amounts are paid in full.
- **7.5. Payment Disputes.** We shall not exercise Our rights under Section 7.3 (Overdue Charges) or 7.4 (Suspension of Service and Acceleration) if the applicable charges are under reasonable and good-faith dispute and You are cooperating diligently to resolve the dispute.
- **7.6. Taxes.** Unless otherwise stated, Our fees do not include any taxes, levies, duties or similar governmental assessments of any nature, including but not limited to value-added, sales, use or withholding taxes, assessable by any local, state, provincial, federal or foreign jurisdiction (collectively, " **Taxes**"). You are responsible for paying all Taxes associated with Your purchases hereunder. If We have the legal obligation to pay or collect Taxes for which You are responsible under this paragraph, the appropriate amount shall be invoiced to and paid by You, unless You provide Us with a valid tax exemption certificate authorized by the appropriate taxing authority.

8. Proprietary rights

- **8.1.** In consideration for payment of the fees, We grant to You non-exclusive, non-transferable (except as otherwise permitted under this Agreement), revocable, licence to access and use the Services in accordance with Your internal business purposes.
- **8.2. Reservation of Rights.** Subject to the limited rights expressly granted hereunder, We reserve all rights, title and interest in and to the Services, including all related intellectual property rights. No rights are granted to You hereunder other than as expressly set forth herein.
- **8.3. Restrictions.** You shall not (i) permit any third party to access the Services except as permitted herein or in an Order Form, (ii) create derivative works based on the Services, (iii) copy, frame or mirror any part or content of the Services, other than copying or framing on Your own intranets or otherwise for Your own internal business purposes, (iv) reverse engineer the Services, or (v) access the Services in order to (a) build a competitive product or service, or (b) copy any features, functions or graphics of the Services.
- **8.4. Ownership of Your Data.** As between Us and You, You exclusively own all rights, title and interest in and to all of Your Data.
- **8.5. Suggestions.** We shall have a royalty-free, worldwide, transferable, sublicenseable, irrevocable, perpetual license to use or incorporate into the Services any suggestions, enhancement requests, recommendations or other feedback provided by You, including Users, relating to the operation of the Services.
- **8.6.** Third Party Intellectual Property Rights. You acknowledge that, in respect of any Third Party Intellectual Property Rights in the Services, Your use of any such Intellectual Property Rights is conditional on Us obtaining a written licence from the relevant licensor on such terms as will entitle Us to license such rights to You. We shall provide the Third Party Applications or Third Party Services under the standard licence terms provided by the

relevant third parties (the Third Party End User Licence(s), copies of which shall be provided to You), and You agree to be bound to the relevant third parties by such licence terms. You shall comply with the Third-Party End User Licences and shall indemnify and hold Us harmless against any loss of damage which We may suffer or incur as a result of Your breach of such terms howsoever arising.

9. Confidentiality

- Definition of Confidential Information. As used herein, " Confidential Information" 9.1. means all confidential information disclosed by a party (" Disclosing Party") to the other party (" Receiving Party"), whether orally or in writing, that is designated as confidential or that reasonably should be understood to be confidential given the nature of the information and the circumstances of disclosure. Your Confidential Information shall include Your Data; Our Confidential Information shall include the Services; and Confidential Information of each party shall include the terms and conditions of this Agreement and all Order Forms, as well as business and marketing plans, technology and technical information, product plans and designs, and business processes disclosed by such party. However, Confidential Information shall not include any information that (i) is or becomes generally known to the public without breach of any obligation owed to the Disclosing Party, (ii) was known to the Receiving Party prior to its disclosure by the Disclosing Party without breach of any obligation owed to the Disclosing Party, (iii) is received from a third party without breach of any obligation owed to the Disclosing Party, or (iv) was independently developed by the Receiving Party.
- 9.2. Protection of Confidential Information. Except as otherwise permitted in writing by the Disclosing Party, (i) the Receiving Party shall use the same degree of care that it uses to protect the confidentiality of its own confidential information of like kind (but in no event less than reasonable care) not to disclose or use any Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party for any purpose outside the scope of this Agreement, and (ii) the Receiving Party shall limit access to Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party to those of its employees, contractors and agents who need such access for purposes consistent with this Agreement and who have signed confidentiality agreements with the Receiving Party containing protections no less stringent than those herein.
- 9.3. Compelled Disclosure. The Receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party if it is compelled by law to do so, provided the Receiving Party gives the Disclosing Party prior notice of such compelled disclosure (to the extent legally permitted) and reasonable assistance, at the Disclosing Party's cost, if the Disclosing Party wishes to contest the disclosure. If the Receiving Party is compelled by law to disclose the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information as part of a civil proceeding to which the Disclosing Party is a party, and the Disclosing Party is not contesting the disclosure, the Disclosing Party will reimburse the Receiving Party for its reasonable cost of compiling and providing secure access to such Confidential Information.

10. Warranties and Disclaimers

- **10.1. Mutual Warranties.** Each party represents and warrants that (i) it has the legal power to enter into this Agreement, and (ii) it will not transmit to the other party any Malicious Code.
- **10.2. Our Warranties.** We warrant that (i) the Services shall perform materially in accordance with the User Manual, and (ii) the functionality of the Services will not be materially decreased during a Subscription Term. For any breach of either such warranty, Your exclusive remedy shall be as provided in Section 13.3 (Termination for Cause) and Section 13.4 (Refund or Payment upon Termination) below.
- **10.3. Disclaimer.** Except as expressly provided herein, neither party makes any warranties of any kind, whether express, implied, statutory or otherwise, and each party specifically disclaims all implied warranties, including any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law.
- **10.4. Limitation of remedies:** Where legislation or rule of law implies into the Agreement a condition or warranty that cannot be excluded or modified by contract, the condition or warranty is deemed to be included in the Agreement. However, Our liability for any breach of that condition or warranty is limited, at the Our option, to:
 - **10.4.1.** supplying the Services again; and/or
 - **10.4.2.** paying the costs of having the Services supplied again.

11. Indemnification

- 11.1. Indemnification by Us. We shall defend You against any claim, demand, suit, or proceeding ("Claim") made or brought against You by a third party alleging that the use of the Services as permitted hereunder infringes or misappropriates the intellectual property rights of a third party, and shall indemnify You for any damages finally awarded against, and for reasonable attorney's fees incurred by You in connection with any such Claim; provided, that You (a) promptly give Us written notice of the Claim; (b) give Us sole control of the defence and settlement of the Claim (provided that We may not settle any Claim unless the settlement unconditionally releases You of all liability); and (c) provide to Us all reasonable assistance, at Our expense. The indemnity in this clause 11.1 does not apply to the extent that a Claim arises from or in connection with (i) Your breach of the Agreement; (ii) use of the Services in a manner or for a purpose not reasonably contemplated by the Agreement or otherwise not authorised in writing by Us; or (iii) Your Data or any third party data.
- 11.2. Indemnification by You. You shall defend Us against any Claim made or brought against Us by a third party alleging that Your Data, or Your use of the Services in violation of this Agreement, infringes or misappropriates the intellectual property rights of a third party or violates applicable law, and shall indemnify Us for any damages finally awarded against, and for reasonable attorney's fees incurred by, Us in connection with any such Claim; provided, that We (a) promptly give You written notice of the Claim; (b) give You sole control of the defence and settlement of the Claim (provided that You may not settle any

- Claim unless the settlement unconditionally release Us of all liability); and (c) provide to You all reasonable assistance, at Our expense.
- **11.3. Exclusive Remedy.** This Section 11 (Mutual Indemnification) states the indemnifying party's sole liability to, and the indemnified party's exclusive remedy against, the other party for any type of Claim described in this Section.

12. Limitation of liability

- **12.1. Limitation of liability.** In no event shall Our aggregate liability arising out of or related to this agreement, whether in contract, tort or under any other theory of liability, exceed the total amount paid by You hereunder or, with respect to any single incident, the lesser of £100,000 or the amount paid by You hereunder in the 12 months preceding the incident. The foregoing shall not limit Your payment obligations under section 7 (fees and payment for purchased services).
- 12.2. Exclusion of Consequential and Related Damages. In no event shall We have any liability to You for any lost profits or revenues or for any indirect, special, incidental, consequential, cover or punitive damages however caused, whether in contract, tort or under any other theory of liability, and whether or not You have been advised of the possibility of such damages. The foregoing disclaimer shall not apply to the extent prohibited by applicable law.
- **12.3. Mitigation:** Each party must take reasonable steps to mitigate any loss or damage, cost or expense it may suffer or incur arising out of anything done or not done by the other party under or in connection with the Agreement.

13. Term and termination

- **13.1. Term of Agreement.** This Agreement commences on the date You accept it and continues until all User subscriptions granted in accordance with this Agreement have expired or been terminated. If You elect to use the Services for a 30-day free trial period and do not purchase a subscription before the end of that period, this Agreement will terminate at the end of the 30-day free trial period.
- 13.2. Term of Purchased User Subscriptions. User subscriptions purchased by You commence on the start date specified in the applicable Order Form and continue for the Subscription Term specified therein. Except as otherwise specified in the applicable Order Form, all User subscriptions shall automatically renew for additional periods equal to the expiring Subscription Term or one year (whichever is shorter), unless either party gives the other notice of non-renewal at least 30 days before the end of the relevant Subscription Term. The per-unit pricing during any such renewal term shall be the same as that during the prior term unless We have given You written notice of a pricing increase at least 30 days before the end of such prior term, in which case the pricing increase shall be effective upon renewal and thereafter. Any such pricing increase shall not exceed 10% over the pricing for the relevant Services in the immediately prior Subscription Term, unless the pricing in such prior term was designated in the relevant Order Form as promotional or one-time.

- **13.3. Termination for Cause.** A party may terminate this Agreement for cause: (i) upon 30 days written notice to the other party of a material breach if such breach remains uncured at the expiration of such period, or (ii) if the other party becomes the subject of a petition in bankruptcy or any other proceeding relating to insolvency, receivership, liquidation or assignment for the benefit of creditors.
- **13.4. Refund or Payment upon Termination.** Upon any termination for cause by You, We shall refund You any prepaid fees covering the remainder of the term of all subscriptions after the effective date of termination. Upon any termination for cause by Us, You shall pay any unpaid fees covering the remainder of the term of all Order Forms after the effective date of termination. In no event shall any termination relieve You of the obligation to pay any fees payable to Us for the period prior to the effective date of termination.
- **13.5. Return of Your Data.** Upon request by You made within 30 days after the effective date of termination of a Purchased Services subscription, We will make available to You for download a file of Your Data in a standard format along with source and target files in their native format. After such 30-day period, We shall have no obligation to maintain or provide any of Your Data and shall thereafter, unless legally prohibited, delete all of Your Data in Our systems or otherwise in Our possession or under Our control.
- 13.6. Surviving Provisions. Section 7 (Fees and Payment for Purchased Services), 8 (Proprietary Rights), 9 (Confidentiality), 10.3 (Disclaimer), 11 (Indemnification), 12 (Limitation of Liability), 13.4 (Refund or Payment upon Termination), 13.5 (Return of Your Data), 14 (Governing Law) and 15 (General Provisions) shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement.

14. Governing law

This Agreement will be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of England.

15. General provisions

- **15.1. Relationship of the Parties.** The parties are independent contractors. This Agreement does not create a partnership, franchise, joint venture, agency, fiduciary or employment relationship between the parties.
- **15.2. Manner of Giving Notice.** Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, all notices, permissions and approvals hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given upon: (i) personal delivery, (ii) the second business day after mailing, (iii) the second business day after sending by confirmed facsimile, or (iv) the first business day after sending by email (provided email shall not be sufficient for notices of termination or an indemnifiable claim). Notices to You shall be addressed to the system administrator designated by You for Your relevant Services account, and in the case of billing-related notices, to the relevant billing contact designated by You.
- **15.3. Third Parties.** A person who is not a party to the Contract shall not have any rights under or in connection with it under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
- **15.4. Waiver and Cumulative Remedies.** No failure or delay by either party in exercising any right under this Agreement shall constitute a waiver of that right. Other than as expressly stated herein, the remedies provided herein are in addition to, and not exclusive of, any other remedies of a party at law or in equity.

- **15.5. Data Processing and Protection.** Both parties shall at all times comply with all Data Protection Legislation when undertaking the Services. You acknowledge that where We carry out activities on Your instructions using Personal Data, You are the Data Controller and We are the Data Processor in respect of the Personal Data provided. Both parties agree that the terms of the Data Processing Agreement (available at https://xtm.cloud/data-processing-agreement/) governs processing of any Personal Data flowing from this Agreement. All Personal Data shall remain Your property.
- **15.6.** Third-Party Applications and Third-Party Services. The Service may present links to Third-Party Applications or Third-Party Services not owned or operated by Us. We are not responsible for the availability of these Third-Party Applications or Services or their contents. You agree that we are not responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, for any damage or loss caused by or in connection with Your use of or reliance on any content of any such Third-Party Application or Service.
- **15.7. Severability.** If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, the provision shall be modified by the court and interpreted so as best to accomplish the objectives of the original provision to the fullest extent permitted by law, and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in effect.
- **15.8. Legal Fees.** You shall pay on demand all of Our reasonable legal fees and other costs incurred by Us to collect any fees or charges due Us under this Agreement following Your breach of Section 7.2 (Invoicing and Payment)
- **15.9. Assignment.** You may not assign any of Your rights or obligations hereunder, whether by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent from Us (not to be unreasonably withheld).
- **15.10. Entire Agreement.** This Agreement, including all exhibits and addenda hereto and all Order Forms, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, proposals or representations, written or oral, concerning its subject matter. No modification, amendment, or waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing and either signed or accepted electronically by the party against whom the modification, amendment or waiver is to be asserted. However, to the extent of any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions in the body of this Agreement and any exhibit hereto or any Order Form, the terms of this Agreement, shall prevail. Notwithstanding any language to the contrary therein, no terms or conditions stated in Your purchase order or other order documentation (excluding Order Forms) shall be incorporated into or form any part of this Agreement, and all such terms or conditions shall be null and void.

ANNEXURE 1: CORPORATE SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT

CONTENTS

1.	PUR	RPOSE AND OBJECTIVES	13
2.	CUS	TOMER SUPPORT	14
3.	SER	VICE LEVELS	14
	3.1.	Availability of the Service	14
	3.2.	Software Releases	14
4.	SUP	PORT MANAGEMENT	15
	4.1.	Support Hours and Availability	15
	4.2.	Support Response Times	15
	4.3.	Reporting Requirements for Operational Issues	16
	4.4.	Escalation Management	17

XTM International provides this Service Level and Support Agreement ("SLSA") to its Customers subject to the following terms.

All capitalised terms not described hereunder have the same meaning as those given in the Subscription Agreement.

The Customer is the Party who has entered into the Subscription Agreement with XTM International.

This SLSA does not constitute a warranty to the Customer.

1. PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES

- 1.1. The purpose of this SLSA is to ensure that the proper elements and commitments are in place to provide reliable Support and Services to the Customer by XTM International.
- 1.2. The objectives of this Agreement are to:
 - 1.2.1. Provide clear reference to accountability, roles and/or responsibilities of the Parties; and
 - 1.2.2. Present a clear, concise and measurable description of Service and Support parameters to the Customer.

2. CUSTOMER SUPPORT

Subject to the parameters set out in this SLSA, XTM International will provide the following Support to the Customer:

- Manned telephone support;
- Monitored email support;
- Remote assistance to fix problems associated with the Service;
- Periodic Software Releases:
- Requests for enhancements to the Services;
- Requests for information; and
- Requests for server administration.

3. SERVICE LEVELS

3.1. Availability of the Service

- 3.1.1. XTM International shall use commercially reasonable efforts to make the Services available to the Customer 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, except when there is:
 - (a) planned downtime and maintenance. In this event, XTM International shall give at least 8 hours' notice to the Customer and shall schedule it to the extent practicable during the weekend hours or from 6:00 p.m. Central European Time Friday to 8:00 a.m. Central European Time Monday to Friday, or
 - (b) any unavailability caused by circumstances beyond Our reasonable control, including without limitation, acts of God, acts of government, flood, fire, earthquakes, civil unrest, acts of terror, strikes or other labour problems (other than those involving XTM International employees), or Internet service provider failures or delays.
- 3.1.2. XTM International shall give immediate notice to the Customer in case of emergency maintenance or downtime outside agreed hours. Where possible XTM International shall make all possible efforts to schedule the maintenance or downtime outside of business hours to minimise impact to Customer.

3.2. Software Releases

- 3.2.1. XTM International undertakes to provide Customer with at least two (2) major releases per year, and a minimum of two (2) minor releases per year.
- 3.2.2. Release notes shall be published on the XTM website www.xtm.cloud/release-notes when a new version is released.
- 3.2.3. Other than in exceptional circumstances (for example, in an emergency response to a security threat), Software releases for Private Cloud customers will occur during maintenance windows agreed with the Customer and for Public Cloud customers at times to minimise disruption to users.
- 3.2.4. On request each year XTM International shall provide Customer with a development roadmap providing a high-level view of enhancements and new functionalities.

4. SUPPORT MANAGEMENT

4.1. Support Hours and Availability

- 4.1.1. Support Hours: 8:00 A.M. to 11:00 P.M. (CET) Monday Friday.
- 4.1.2. Telephone support: Calls received out of office hours will be forwarded to a mobile phone and best efforts will be made to answer or action the call, however, there will be a backup answer phone service at all times.
- 4.1.3. Email support:

 Emails received outside of office hours will be collected, however, no action can be guaranteed until the next business day.
- 4.1.4. Service Requests: In support of the Services, XTM International will respond to service-related incidents and/or requests submitted by the Customer within the time frames indicated as per the table in section 4.2.

4.2. Support Response Times

Issue	Maximum	Maximum Resolution	Minimum Interval	Target
Priority	Human	Time in business hours	Between Feedback	
	Response	Supplier will use best		
	Time	efforts to fix these		
		problems within		
0	30 mins	2 hours	Every hour	100%
1	1 hour	12 hours	Every 2 hours	100%
2	1 hour	3 days	Every Working Day	90%
3	4 hours	7 days	N/A	90%
4	4 hours	with the next routine	N/A	80%
		upgrade.		

Priority Code	Description	
0 (high)	The product is not accessible by any user.	
1	The Product cannot be used; the error has a critical impact on the business process. A bypass is not available; the situation requires an immediate solution.	
2	The use of the Product is limited; certain functions cannot be used. A bypass is not available; the situation requires a solution as soon as possible.	
3	The Product is operational; the use of several functions is restricted. A bypass is available allowing business processes to continue.	

4 (low)	The Product is operational; the use of several functions has minor		
	restrictions. A bypass is available allowing business processes to		
	continue.		

4.3. Reporting Requirements for Operational Issues

- 4.3.1. For all operational issues or questions regarding the Service, the single point of contact (SPOC) for the Authorised Users will be the XTM International Support Desk. The scope of intervention for that Support Desk is related to opened tickets resulting from:
 - Incidents
 - Requests for enhancements
 - Requests for information
 - Requests for server administration.
- 4.3.2. Incident reports may only be submitted to the XTM International Support Desk as follows:
 - by telephone;
 - by e-mail;
 - by entering directly into FreshDesk (the XTM Support ticketing system);
 - by FreshDesk chat.
- 4.3.3. XTM International Support Desk contact details are:

Email: support@xtm-intl.com

Register for chat and support portal at: https://support.xtm-intl.com

4.3.4. The following authorised persons (Incident Initiator) or organisations may contact XTM International during support hours:

Role	Authorised
Customer - Service Desks	Yes
Customer - Service Functional Owner	Yes
Customer - Service Operational Owner	Yes
Customer - Specific Super Users	Yes
Customer - All Service Users	No

- 4.3.5. The support languages are English & Polish.
- 4.3.6. The XTM International Support Desk will communicate back to the Incident Initiator a ticket reference number that can be used for further follow-up. XTM International will provide regular updates to the Incident Initiator.
- 4.3.7. XTM ticketing system will be used as the central communication platform for dealing with and continuing to track outstanding tickets. XTM shall grant

- Customer access to its ticketing system where incidents and requests are recorded and managed.
- 4.3.8. If there is a difference of opinion between Customer and XTM regarding the priority, the definitions described in this SLSA applies.
- 4.3.9. XTM must restore the Service as soon as possible, even by means of workarounds. The incidents will only be concluded when the Service is fully restored, delivering all its functionality.
- 4.3.10. If an incident is not resolved within the Maximum Resolution Time (as set out in paragraph 4.2 above), it will be escalated automatically.

4.4. Escalation Management

- 4.4.1. The escalation process is designed to ensure a high level of management visibility within Customer and XTM International organisations so as to guarantee that every possible action is taken to resolve incidents or improve Service performance.
- 4.4.2. Escalation levels are the following:

Level	Responsible person at Customer	Contact person at Supplier
1	Service Operational Owner or Service	Support Manager
	Functional Owner	Przemysław Nowak
	Email: <mark><insert></insert></mark>	Email: pnowak@xtm-intl.com
	Tel: <mark><insert></insert></mark>	
2	Service Manager or Team Lead	Technical Director
	Email: <mark><insert></insert></mark>	Wojtek Jeczalik
	Tel: <insert></insert>	Email: wjeczalik@xtm-intl.com
3	Stream Lead	Chief Techical Officer
	Email: <mark><insert></insert></mark>	Andrzej Zydron
	Tel: <insert></insert>	Email: azydron@xtm-intl.com